Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



## **Preventive Medicine**



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ypmed

## Review

# Impact of progressive resistance training on lipids and lipoproteins in adults: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials

## George A. Kelley \*, Kristi S. Kelley

School of Medicine, Department of Community Medicine, West Virginia University, Morgantown, West Virginia, USA

## ARTICLE INFO

## ABSTRACT

Available online 1 November 2008

Keywords: Exercise Lipids Cholesterol Meta-analysis Systematic review Adults *Objective.* Given the discrepant findings of progressive resistance training (PRT) on lipids and lipoproteins in adults, we used the meta-analytic approach to examine this issue.

*Methods.* Randomized controlled trials  $\geq$ 4 weeks dealing with the effects of PRT on lipids and lipoproteins in adult humans  $\geq$ 18 years of age and published between January 1, 1955 and July 12, 2007 were included. Primary outcomes included total cholesterol (TC), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), ratio of total cholesterol to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (TC/HDL-C), non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (non-HDL-C), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), and triglycerides (TG). A random-effects model was used for analysis with data reported as means and 95% confidence intervals.

*Results.* Twenty-nine studies representing 1329 men and women (676 exercise, 653 control) were included. Statistically significant improvements were found for TC (-5.5 mg/dl, -9.4 to -1.6), TC/HDL-C (-0.5, -0.9 to -0.2), non-HDL-C (-8.7 mg/dl, -14.1 to -3.3), LDL-C (-6.1 mg/dl, -11.2 to -1.0) and TG (-8.1 mg/dl, -14.5 to -1.8) but not HDL-C (0.7 mg/dl, -1.2 to 2.6). Changes were equivalent to -2.7%, 1.4%, -11.6%, -5.6%, -4.6%, and -6.4%, respectively, for TC, HDL-C, TC/HDL-C, non-HDL-C, LDL-C, and TG.

Conclusions. Progressive resistance training reduces TC, TC/HDL-C, non-HDL-C, LDL-C and TG in adults. © 2008 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

## Contents

Introduction	10
Methods	10
Data sources	10
Study selection	10
Data extraction	10
Data synthesis	10
Calculation of study-level effect estimates for lipids and lipoproteins	10
Pooled estimates for lipids and lipoproteins.	11
Meta-regression	11
Data reporting	11
Results	11
Study characteristics	11
Subject characteristics	12
Lipid assessment characteristics	14
Training program characteristics	14
Outcomes analysis	14
Primary outcomes	14
Secondary outcomes.	14
Meta-regression for primary outcomes	14

E-mail address: gkelley@hsc.wvu.edu (G.A. Kelley).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Meta-Analytic Research Group, School of Medicine, Department of Community Medicine, PO Box 9190, Robert C. Byrd Health Sciences Center, Room 2350-A, West Virginia University, Morgantown, WV 26506-9190, USA. Fax: +1 304 293 5891.

<sup>0091-7435/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2008 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.10.010

Discussion	
Evaluation and interpretation of findings	
Study strengths and limitations	
Conclusions	
Conflict of interest statement	
Acknowledgments	
Appendix A. Supplementary data	
References	

### Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD), the number one cause of mortality in the United States (US), is responsible for more than 600,000 deaths per year (Minino et al., 2006). In addition, 80.7 million adults in the US have CVD (Rosamond et al., 2008). Furthermore, the costs associated with CVD are enormous, with annual total direct and indirect costs estimated to be \$287.3 billion in 2008 (Rosamond et al., 2008). One of the major risk factors for CVD is less than optimal lipid and lipoprotein levels, a common problem in the US. For example, it is estimated that more than 80 million adults ages 20 years and older have low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) levels ≥130 mg/dl (Rosamond et al., 2008). Exercise, primarily aerobic exercise, is a low-cost therapeutic lifestyle change that has been recommended for improving lipid and lipoprotein levels in adults (Rosamond et al., 2008). While previous meta-analytic research has reported significant improvements in lipids and lipoproteins among both men (Kelley and Kelley, 2006) and women (Kelley et al., 2004) as a result of aerobic exercise, the effects of progressive resistance training (PRT), i.e., weight training, on lipids and lipoproteins in adults have been underwhelming. For example, previous randomized controlled trials addressing the effects of PRT on lipid and lipoprotein outcomes have reported conflicting findings with regards to total cholesterol (TC), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), the ratio of TC to HDL-C (TC/HDL-C), LDL-C and triglycerides (TG) (Blessing et al., 1987; Boardley et al., 2007; Boyden et al., 1993; Bunout et al., 2001; Campbell, 1965; Castaneda et al., 2002; Crowder, 1989; Durak et al., 1990; Elliott et al., 2002; Ensign, 1993; Fahlman et al., 2002; Fenkci et al., 2006; Hagerman et al., 2000; Hersey et al., 1994; Hong, 2004; Johnson et al., 1983; Katznelson et al., 2006; LeMura et al., 2000; Maesta et al., 2007; Manning et al., 1991; Martin, 1994; Olson et al., 2006; Prabhakaran et al., 1999; Sallinen et al., 2007; Sigal et al., 2007; Stone et al., 1982; Thomas et al., 2005; Vincent et al., 2003; Wosornu et al., 1996). Given the conflicting findings regarding the effects of PRT on lipids and lipoproteins in adults, we used the meta-analytic approach (Sacks et al., 1987) to examine the effects of this intervention on lipids and lipoproteins in adults.

### Methods

## Data sources

Studies for potential inclusion in this meta-analysis were retrieved by searching six computerized databases (PubMed, Embase, Sport-Discus, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Clinical Trials, Current Contents, Dissertation Abstracts International), as well as crossreferencing from retrieved studies, including review articles. The search for relevant studies was conducted from January 1, 1955 forward. The last search was conducted on July 12, 2007. We chose 1955 as the starting date for our literature search since this appeared to be the first year in which an intervention study examined the effects of exercise on cholesterol levels in adults (Mann et al., 1955). While the keywords and terms used varied depending upon the database being queried, terms germane to all searches included "weight training," "lipids," "cholesterol," "resistance exercise," and "resistance training."

### Study selection

The inclusion criteria for this study were: (1) randomized controlled trials, (2) PRT  $\geq$ 4 weeks as the only intervention, (3) adult humans  $\geq$  18 years of age, (4) published and unpublished studies (master's theses and dissertations), (5) studies in any language, (6) studies published between January 1, 1955 and July 12, 2007, and (7) one or more of the following lipids and lipoproteins assessed in the fasting state (TC, HDL-C, ratio of TC/HDL-C, LDL-C, TG). In addition we also included non-HDL-C (TC minus HDL-C) as a primary outcome. Exclusion criteria for this meta-analysis were (1) non-randomized trials, (2) animal studies, (3) studies conducted in humans less than 18 years of age, and (4) studies in which additional interventions beyond PRT were implemented in the same group. From each study, we only included those groups that met our inclusion criteria.

## Data extraction

Prior to the extraction of data, a codebook that could hold up to 421 items from each study was developed. The major categories of items that were coded included (1) study characteristics (for example, year of publication), (2) subject characteristics (for example, age), (3) lipid and lipoprotein assessment characteristics (for example, time of assessment), (4) PRT program characteristics (for example, length of training) and (5) our primary outcomes (TC, HDL-C, LDL-C, TC/HDL-C, TG, non-HDL-C). In cases where lipid and lipoprotein data were assessed but insufficient data were available for pooling, contact was made for such. All studies were coded by both authors, independent of each other. The authors then reviewed every item for accuracy and precision. Disagreements were resolved by consensus. Using Cohen's kappa statistic (Cohen, 1968), the overall agreement rate prior to correcting discrepant items was 0.91.

Study quality was assessed using a quality index developed by others (Jadad et al., 1996). This assessment is a 3-item questionnaire designed to assess bias, specifically, randomization, blinding, and withdrawals/dropouts. The minimum number of points possible is 0 and the maximum 5, with the higher number representing greater study quality. All questions are designed to elicit a yes (1 point) or no (0 points) response. The questionnaire has been shown to be both valid (face validity) and reliable (researcher inter-rater agreement, r=0.77, 95% confidence interval 0.60 to 0.96). However, since no gold standard currently exists for determining study quality, especially for exercise training studies, we believe, as do others, that all scales should be interpreted with extreme caution and should not be used to weight outcomes (Herbison et al., 2006). Study quality was assessed by both authors. Using Cohen's kappa statistic (Cohen, 1968), the overall agreement rate prior to adjudication was 0.90.

## Data synthesis

### Calculation of study-level effect estimates for lipids and lipoproteins

For this study, the primary outcomes (treatment effects) were changes in lipids and lipoproteins (TC, HDL-C, LDL-C, ratio of TC/HDL-C, TG, non-HDL-C), analyzed separately. Treatment effects for our lipid and lipoprotein variables for each group from each study were

calculated by subtracting the change score in the exercise group from the change score in the control group. Variances were calculated from the pooled standard deviations of change scores in the exercise and control groups. If change score standard deviations were not available, these were calculated from 95% confidence intervals or pre and post standard deviation values according to procedures developed by others (Follmann et al., 1992). Since only one study reported data for non-HDL-C (Sigal et al., 2007), we calculated this as TC minus HDL-C and used previously developed procedures to estimate variances (Follmann et al., 1992). Each treatment effect was then weighted by the inverse of its variance. We used the original metric (milligrams per deciliter) versus some type of standardized metric because we believe it is more clinically meaningful (Mosteller and Colditz, 1996). Secondary outcomes (changes in body weight, body mass index (BMI) in kilogram meters squared, percent body fat, lean body mass) were calculated using the same approach as for our lipid and lipoprotein outcomes.

### Pooled estimates for lipids and lipoproteins

After calculating treatment effects and variances for each outcome from each study, all results were pooled using random effects meta-regression (intercept-only model), an approach that accounts for between-study heterogeneity (Hunter and Schmidt, 2000). If the two-tailed, 95% confidence intervals did not cross zero (0) for the intercept, we considered our results to be statistically significant.

Heterogeneity based on a fixed effects model was also examined. This was accomplished using the Q statistic and an alpha value for statistical significance of 0.10 versus 0.05 because this test tends to suffer from low power (Hedges and Olkin, 1985). In addition, we examined the consistency of our between study findings for all outcomes using an extension of Q known as  $l^2$  (Higgins et al., 2003). Generally,  $l^2$  values of 25%, 50%, and 75% may be considered to represent small, medium, and large amounts of inconsistency (Higgins et al., 2003).

If a significant finding was identified for any of our outcomes, we then examined for potential publication bias using random effects meta-regression whereby the criterion variable was the outcome of interest, for example, changes in LDL-C, and the inverse of the sample size was the potential predictor variable (Peters et al., 2006). Ninetyfive percent confidence intervals that did not cross zero (0) for the slope of the unstandardized regression coefficients (B) were considered to be suggestive of publication bias. In addition, cumulative meta-analysis, ranked by year, was performed in order to examine results over time (Lau et al., 1995).

## Meta-regression

Simple, random-effects meta-regression was used to examine the potential relationship between changes in lipids and lipoproteins and potential predictors. Potential study characteristics that were examined included study quality, year the study was conducted, percent dropout, source of study (published journal article versus dissertation/ master's thesis), country study was conducted (USA versus other) type of analysis (intention-to-treat versus per-protocol) and number of hours exercise was avoided prior to lipid assessment. Subject characteristics included age, gender, baseline lipid and lipoprotein levels, changes in body weight, BMI, percent fat, lean body mass, VO<sub>2max</sub> in ml·kg<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup> and upper and lower body strength, drugs that could affect lipid and lipoprotein metabolism, cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, menopausal status of participants (pre versus post), whether the participants were defined by the authors as apparently healthy, changes in diet, whether the participants were physically active prior to taking part in the study and whether the participants were overweight/obese, had type 2 diabetes or cardiovascular disease. Because of a lack of data, we were unable to examine race/ethnicity. Training program characteristics that were examined included length, frequency and intensity of training, defined as a percentage of one-repetition maximum (1 RM), number of sets, number of repetitions, rest period between sets, number of exercises performed, compliance, defined as the percentage of exercise sessions attended, amount of resistance training per week (frequency×sets× repetitions×number of exercises), amount of resistance training per week, adjusted for intensity, and whether the exercise sessions were supervised or unsupervised. We were unable to conduct any type of multiple meta-regression analysis because of missing data. For all meta-regression analyses in which potential predictors were included, we report the slope of the unstandardized regression coefficients (B) along with their 95% confidence intervals. Confidence intervals that did not cross zero (0) were considered to be statistically significant.

### Data reporting

With the exception of study quality, which was reported as the median, continuous descriptive statistics are reported as the mean  $(\overline{X})$ ±standard deviation (SD) while changes in primary outcomes are reported as  $\overline{X}$  and 95% confidence intervals. All meta-analytic analyses were conducted using Stata/SE for Windows (version 8.2).

## Results

### Study characteristics

Of the 612 studies reviewed, a total of 31 exercise groups from 29 studies met our inclusion criteria (Fig. 1) (Blessing et al., 1987; Boardley et al., 2007; Boyden et al., 1993; Bunout et al., 2001; Campbell, 1965; Castaneda et al., 2002; Crowder, 1989; Durak et al., 1990; Elliott et al., 2002; Ensign, 1993; Fahlman et al., 2002; Fenkci et al., 2006; Hagerman et al., 2000; Hersey et al., 1994; Hong, 2004;



**Fig. 1.** Description of the number of studies excluded in our meta-analysis, with reasons. The number of reasons (937) exceeds the number of studies excluded because some studies were excluded for more than one reason. The date of the last search for potentially eligible studies was July 12, 2007.

## Table 1 Baseline characteristics of participants from studies included in meta-analysis

Variable	Exe	Exercise			Control		
	Ν	<u></u> <i>X</i> ±SD	Range	N	<u></u> <i>X</i> ±SD	Range	
Age (yrs)	30	53.0±16.8	20 to 74	29	52±16	20 to 75	
Height (cm)	15	164.5±7.4	151 to 178	14	$165 \pm 7.0$	154 to 178	
Weight (kg)	25	74.3±9.8	57 to 99	24	$74.9 \pm 10.8$	59 to 101	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	24	27.0±3.4	21 to 34	23	26.8±3.8	22 to 36	
Body fat (%)	22	30.5±6.9	19 to 45	21	$30.5 \pm 7.0$	19 to 45	
LBM (kg)	23	$48.7 \pm 10.4$	18 to 65	22	48.6±11.2	18 to 65	
TC (mg/dl)	30	204.3±26.8	165 to 268	29	200.6±21.5	170 to 256	
HDL-C (mg/dl)	28	$50.2 \pm 7.6$	38 to 77	27	49.7±7.6	37 to 72	
TC/HDL-C	28	4.3±0.8	3 to 6	27	$4.1 \pm 0.7$	3 to 6	
Non-HDL-C (mg/dl)	28	154.8±26.1	103 to 209	27	150.6±20.1	120 to 205	
LDL-C (mg/dl)	23	133.1±21.7	104 to 170	23	$129.2 \pm 19.6$	104 to 172	
TG (mg/dl)	26	126.9±52.9	65 to 341	26	131.0±51.4	68 to 341	

*N*, total number of groups reporting data for that variable;  $\overline{X} \pm SD$ , mean±standard deviation; Range represents the means for each group from each study; BMI, body mass index; LBM, lean body mass; TC, total cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; TC/HDL-C, ratio of total cholesterol to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Non-HDL-C, non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; TG, triglycerides; To convert TC, HDL-C, non-HDL-C to millimoles per liter (mmol/L) divide by 38.67; To convert TG to millimoles per liter (mmol/L) divide by 38.67.

Johnson et al., 1983; Katznelson et al., 2006; LeMura et al., 2000; Maesta et al., 2007; Manning et al., 1991; Martin, 1994; Olson et al., 2006; Prabhakaran et al., 1999; Sallinen et al., 2007; Sigal et al., 2007; Stone et al., 1982; Thomas et al., 2005; Vincent et al., 2003; Wosornu et al., 1996) while with multiple retrieval attempts the necessary data was not received for one (Baldi and Snowling, 2003). The total number of men and women included in the studies was 1329 (676 exercise, and 653 control). Eleven studies (38%) were limited to females (Boyden et al., 1993; Elliott et al., 2002; Ensign, 1993; Fahlman et al., 2002; Fenkci et al., 2006; LeMura et al., 2000; Maesta et al., 2007; Manning et al., 1991; Martin, 1994; Olson et al., 2006; Prabhakaran et al., 1999), 9 (31%) to males (Blessing et al., 1987; Campbell, 1965; Durak et al., 1990; Hagerman et al., 2000; Johnson et al., 1983; Katznelson et al., 2006; Sallinen et al., 2007; Stone et al., 1982; Wosornu et al., 1996), while 9 (31%) were mixed (Boardley et al., 2007; Bunout et al., 2001; Castaneda et al., 2002; Crowder, 1989; Hersey et al., 1994; Hong, 2004; Sigal et al., 2007; Thomas et al., 2005; Vincent et al., 2003). One mixed study reported data separately for males and females (Hong, 2004). We were unable to calculate the exact number of males and females because of missing data in some studies. Twenty-five studies were published in journals (Blessing et al., 1987; Boardley et al., 2007; Boyden et al., 1993; Bunout et al., 2001; Campbell, 1965; Castaneda et al., 2002; Durak et al., 1990; Elliott et al., 2002; Fahlman et al., 2002; Fenkci et al., 2006; Hagerman et al., 2000; Hersey et al., 1994; Johnson et al., 1983; Katznelson et al., 2006; LeMura et al., 2000; Maesta et al., 2007; Manning et al., 1991; Olson et al., 2006; Prabhakaran et al., 1999; Sallinen et al., 2007; Sigal et al., 2007; Stone et al., 1982; Thomas et al., 2005; Vincent et al., 2003; Wosornu et al., 1996), two as dissertations (Crowder, 1989; Ensign, 1993), and one as a master's thesis (Martin, 1994). Twenty studies (69%) were conducted in the United States (Blessing et al., 1987; Boardley et al., 2007; Boyden et al., 1993; Campbell, 1965; Castaneda et al., 2002; Crowder, 1989; Durak et al., 1990; Ensign, 1993; Fahlman et al., 2002; Hagerman et al., 2000; Hersey et al., 1994; Johnson et al., 1983; Katznelson et al., 2006; LeMura et al., 2000; Manning et al., 1991; Martin, 1994; Olson et al., 2006; Prabhakaran et al., 1999; Stone et al., 1982; Vincent et al., 2003), two each in China (Hong, 2004; Thomas et al., 2005) and the United Kingdom (Elliott et al., 2002; Wosornu et al., 1996), and one each in Brazil (Maesta et al., 2007), Canada (Sigal et al., 2007), Chile (Bunout et al., 2001), Finland (Sallinen et al., 2007), and Turkey (Fenkci et al., 2006). For those studies in which data were available, 21 (81%) used a per-protocol analysis when analyzing their data (Blessing et al., 1987; Boardley et al., 2007; Boyden et al., 1993; Bunout et al., 2001; Crowder, 1989; Durak et al., 1990; Elliott et al., 2002; Ensign, 1993; Fahlman et al., 2002; Fenkci et al., 2006; Hagerman et al., 2000; Hersey et al., 1994; Hong, 2004; Johnson et al., 1983; LeMura et al., 2000; Maesta et al., 2007; Manning et al., 1991; Martin, 1994; Prabhakaran et al., 1999; Sallinen et al., 2007; Vincent et al., 2003) while five (19%) used the intention-to-treat approach (Castaneda et al., 2002; Katznelson et al., 2006; Sigal et al., 2007; Thomas et al., 2005; Wosornu et al., 1996). Study quality ranged from 1 to 5 (median=2).

### Subject characteristics

Baseline characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 1. For race/ethnicity, four studies reported that more than one racial/ethnic group was included (Boardley et al., 2007; Katznelson et al., 2006; Martin, 1994; Sigal et al., 2007), three were limited to Hispanics (Bunout et al., 2001; Castaneda et al., 2002; Maesta et al., 2007), while two each were limited to either Asians (Hong, 2004; Thomas et al., 2005) or Whites (Boyden et al., 1993; Ensign, 1993). Five studies reported that some participants were taking drugs during the study that might affect lipid metabolism (Boardley et al., 2007; Castaneda et al., 2002; Fahlman et al., 2002; Sallinen et al., 2007; Sigal et al., 2007), while six reported that none were (Boyden et al., 1993; Crowder, 1989; Fenkci et al., 2006; LeMura et al., 2000; Manning et al., 1991; Olson et al., 2006). For cigarette smoking, eleven studies reported that none of the participants smoked cigarettes (Boardley et al., 2007; Castaneda et al., 2002; Crowder, 1989; Fahlman et al., 2002; Fenkci et al., 2006; Hong, 2004; LeMura et al., 2000; Maesta et al., 2007; Martin, 1994; Olson et al., 2006; Prabhakaran et al., 1999), while three reported that some participants smoked (Boyden et al., 1993; Hong, 2004; Wosornu et al., 1996). Three studies reported that some participants consumed alcohol during the study (Boyden et al., 1993; Crowder, 1989; Hong, 2004), while two others reported that none of the participants consumed alcohol (Fenkci et al., 2006; Martin, 1994). Only one study reported changes in diet that may have affected lipid and lipoprotein levels (Crowder, 1989). Twenty-three studies reported that none of the participants were physically active prior to taking part in the study (Blessing et al., 1987; Boardley et al., 2007; Boyden et al., 1993; Castaneda et al., 2002; Crowder, 1989; Elliott et al., 2002; Ensign, 1993; Fahlman et al., 2002; Fenkci et al., 2006; Hagerman et al., 2000; Hersey et al., 1994; Hong, 2004; Johnson et al., 1983; Katznelson et al., 2006; LeMura et al., 2000; Manning et al., 1991; Martin, 1994; Olson et al., 2006; Prabhakaran et al., 1999; Sigal et al., 2007; Stone et al., 1982; Thomas et al., 2005; Vincent et al., 2003), while one reported that participants were physically active (Sallinen et al., 2007). For menopausal status, ten studies included women who were postmenopausal (Boardley et al., 2007; Bunout et al., 2001; Castaneda et al., 2002; Durak et al., 1990; Fahlman et al., 2002; Hersey et al., 1994; Hong, 2004; Maesta et al., 2007; Thomas et al., 2005; Vincent et al., 2003), five included women who were premenopausal (Boyden et al., 1993; Ensign, 1993; LeMura et al., 2000;

### Table 2

Training program characteristics of studies included in meta-analysis

Variable	Ν	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Range
Length (weeks)	31	24.0±19.0	8 to 78
Frequency (times/week)	30	2.9 to 0.4	2 to 3
Intensity (%1RM)	15	$70.3 \pm 10.4$	50 to 87
Duration (minutes/session)	12	47.7±11.5	24 to 60
Sets (#)	29	$2.6 \pm 1.1$	1 to 5
Repetitions (#)	29	11.5±6.6	7 to 30
Exercises (#)	30	9.2±3.1	3 to 16
Rest between sets (seconds)	13	82.9±37.6	22 to 150
Compliance (%)	20	85.5±11.6	56 to 100

*N*, total number of groups reporting data for that variable;  $\overline{X} \pm SD$ , mean  $\pm$  standard deviation; %1RM, percentage of 1-repetition maximum; #, number; Compliance, percentage of exercise sessions attended.

 Table 3

 Changes in primary and secondary outcomes for studies included in meta-analysis

Variable	Ν	<del>X</del> (95% CI)	Q (p)	$I^2$
Primary outcomes (m	g/dl)			
- TC	30	-5.5 (-9.4, -1.6)*	102.6 (<0.001)**	71.7
- HDL-C	28	0.7 (-1.2, 2.6)	211.5 (<0.001)**	87.2
- TC/HDL-C	14	-0.5 (-0.9, -0.2)*	96.7 (<0.001)**	86.6
- Non-HDL-C	26	-8.7 (-14.1, -3.3)*	234.2 (<0.001)**	89.3
- LDL-C	23	-6.1 (-11.2, -1.0)*	152.2 (<0.0001)**	85.5
- TG	26	-8.1 (-14.5, -1.8)*	89.4 (<0.001)**	72.0
Secondary outcomes				
- Body weight (kg)	21	0.003 (-0.4, 0.4)	8.2 (0.99)	< 0.0001
- BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	14	-0.2 (-0.2, 0.1)	14.5 (0.34)	10.6
- Body fat (%)	15	-1.8 (-2.5, -1.1)*	30.6 (0.006)**	54.2
- LBM (kg)	15	1.0 (0.4, 1.5)*	25.1 (0.03)**	44.1

*N*, total number of groups reporting data in which a treatment effect could be calculated;  $\overline{X}$ (95% Cl), mean and 95% confidence interval; *Q*, heterogeneity value; *p*, significance value for Q; *l*<sup>2</sup>, percentage (%) of inconsistency for study results, calculated from Q statistic; TC, total cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; TC/HDL-C, ratio of total cholesterol to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Non-HDL-C, non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; TG, triglycerides; BMI, body mass index; LBM, lean body mass.

\* significantly different from zero (0).

\*\* statistically significant at p<0.10; To convert TC, HDL-C, non-HDL-C and LDL-C to millimoles per liter (mmol/L) divide by 38.67; To convert TG to millimoles per liter (mmol/L) divide by 88.57.

Olson et al., 2006; Prabhakaran et al., 1999), and two included both (Manning et al., 1991; Sigal et al., 2007). Fourteen studies reported that participants were apparently healthy prior to participation (Boyden et al., 1993; Bunout et al., 2001; Elliott et al., 2002; Ensign, 1993;

Fahlman et al., 2002; Hersey et al., 1994; Hong, 2004; LeMura et al., 2000; Manning et al., 1991; Olson et al., 2006; Prabhakaran et al., 1999; Sallinen et al., 2007; Thomas et al., 2005; Vincent et al., 2003). While none of the studies reported that all participants were hyperlipidemic, seven included some participants that were hyperlipidemic (Boardley et al., 2007; Castaneda et al., 2002; Hong, 2004; Maesta et al., 2007; Sallinen et al., 2007; Sigal et al., 2007; Thomas et al., 2005), while two apparently had no participants that were hyperlipidemic (Boyden et al., 1993; Olson et al., 2006). Three studies reported that all participants had diabetes (Castaneda et al., 2002; Durak et al., 1990; Sigal et al., 2007), another three reported that some participants had diabetes (Hong, 2004; Thomas et al., 2005; Wosornu et al., 1996), while six others reported that none of the participants had diabetes (Bunout et al., 2001; Ensign, 1993; Fenkci et al., 2006; Katznelson et al., 2006; Olson et al., 2006; Sallinen et al., 2007). For CVD, one study reported that participants had a history of CVD (Wosornu et al., 1996), two reported that some participants had a history (Castaneda et al., 2002; Hagerman et al., 2000), while 10 reported that none of the participants had such a history (Boardley et al., 2007; Elliott et al., 2002; Ensign, 1993; Fahlman et al., 2002; Fenkci et al., 2006; Hersey et al., 1994; Martin, 1994; Olson et al., 2006; Thomas et al., 2005; Vincent et al., 2003). Four studies reported that all participants were overweight or obese (Fenkci et al., 2006; Maesta et al., 2007; Manning et al., 1991; Olson et al., 2006), seven included some participants that were overweight or obese (Boardley et al., 2007; Castaneda et al., 2002; Hong, 2004; Katznelson et al., 2006; Sallinen et al., 2007; Sigal et al., 2007; Thomas et al., 2005), while none of the participants were overweight or obese in two studies (Boyden et al., 1993; Ensign, 1993).



Fig. 2. Forest plot for changes in TC and 95% confidence intervals for each outcome as well as the overall weighted mean difference and 95% confidence interval for studies included in our meta-analysis. The size of the black boxes for each outcome represents the weight given to that outcome. The overall mean difference is shown by the middle of the diamond while the left and right extremes of the diamond represent the corresponding 95% confidence interval. The vertical dashed line represents the overall mean change. To convert to millimoles per liter (mmol/L) divide by 38.67.

## Lipid assessment characteristics

Lipids and lipoproteins were typically assessed in the morning after an overnight fast of approximately 12 h. The number of hours that exercise was avoided prior to the assessment of lipids and lipoproteins ranged from 24 to 168 h ( $\overline{X} \pm SD$ , 55.9 $\pm$ 36.4 h) for those studies that provided this information (Blessing et al., 1987; Boyden et al., 1993; Elliott et al., 2002; Fahlman et al., 2002; Hersey et al., 1994; LeMura et al., 2000; Olson et al., 2006; Prabhakaran et al., 1999; Sallinen et al., 2007; Sigal et al., 2007). The Friedewald method was used almost exclusively to estimate LDL-C (Friedewald et al., 1972).

## Training program characteristics

Training program characteristics are shown in Table 2. For those studies that reported data, 17 were supervised (Blessing et al., 1987; Boyden et al., 1993; Bunout et al., 2001; Campbell, 1965; Castaneda et al., 2002; Crowder, 1989; Ensign, 1993; Fenkci et al., 2006; Hagerman et al., 2000; Hersey et al., 1994; Hong, 2004; Maesta et al., 2007; Prabhakaran et al., 1999; Sallinen et al., 2007; Sigal et al., 2007; Thomas et al., 2005; Wosornu et al., 1996), two were unsupervised (Katznelson et al., 2006; Martin, 1994), and two included both (Boardley et al., 2007; Olson et al., 2006).

### Outcomes analysis

### Primary outcomes

Statistically significant reductions were found for TC, the ratio of TC/HDL-C, non-HDL-C, LDL-C, and TG. However, no statistically significant changes in HDL-C were observed (Table 3, Figs. 2–7). Based on a fixed-effects model, a large and statistically significant

amount of heterogeneity was observed across all lipid and lipoprotein outcomes. Using the absolute changes in Table 3 and the baseline values for the exercise groups in Table 1, relative changes in lipids and lipoproteins were equivalent to -2.7% (95% CI, -4.6 to -0.8), 1.4% (-2.4 to 5.2), -11.6% (-20.9 to -4.7), -5.6% (-9.1 to -2.1), -4.6% (-8.4 to -0.8), and -6.4% (-11.4 to -1.4) respectively, for TC, HDL-C, TC/HDL-C, non-HDL-C, LDL-C, and TG. No statistically significant publication bias was observed for any of our lipid and lipoprotein outcomes. Cumulative meta-analysis, ranked by year, showed that statistically significant pooled decreases have consistently been present since 1993 for TC, 1999 for TC/HDL-C, 1993 for non-HDL-C, 2002 for LDL-C and 2005 for TG (results not shown). Within the time frame of included studies in this meta-analysis (January 1, 1955 and July 12, 2007) changes in HDL-C have been non-significant.

#### Secondary outcomes

Statistically significant decreases were found for percent body fat while a statistically significant increase in lean body mass was observed (Table 3). No statistically significant changes were found for body weight or BMI. Based on a fixed-effects model, a moderate and statistically significant amount of heterogeneity was observed for changes in both percent body fat and lean body mass. Using the same approach for calculating relative changes in lipids and lipoproteins, differences in our secondary outcomes were equivalent to 0.0003% (-0.06 to 0.6), -0.2% (-0.7 to 0.4), -5.6% (-8.2 to -3.1) and 2.0% (0.6 to 3.4), respectively, for body weight, BMI, percent body fat, and lean body mass.

### Meta-regression for primary outcomes

Statistically significant associations were found between decreases in TC and decreases in BMI (B, 14.7, 3.7 to 25.7), increases in upper



**Fig. 3.** Forest plot for changes in HDL-C and 95% confidence intervals for each outcome as well as the overall weighted mean difference and 95% confidence interval for studies included in our meta-analysis. The size of the black boxes for each outcome represents the weight given to that outcome. The overall mean difference is shown by the middle of the diamond while the left and right extremes of the diamond represent the corresponding 95% confidence interval. The vertical dashed line represents the overall mean change. To convert to millimoles per liter (mmol/L) divide by 38.67.



Fig. 4. Forest plot for changes in the ratio of TC/HDL-C and 95% confidence intervals for each outcome as well as the overall weighted mean difference and 95% confidence interval for studies included in our meta-analysis. The size of the black boxes for each outcome represents the weight given to that outcome. The overall mean difference is shown by the middle of the diamond while the left and right extremes of the diamond represent the corresponding 95% confidence interval. The vertical dashed line represents the overall mean change.

body strength (B, -0.5, -0.7 to -0.2), fewer exercises (B, 1.6, 0.1 to 3.1) and greater dropout rates (B, -0.5, -0.9 to -0.1). For HDL-C, increases were associated with lower initial levels of HDL-C (B, -0.3, -0.5 to -0.02) and decreases in BMI (B, -4.9, -9.5 to -0.3). Decreases in the ratio of TC/HDL-C were associated with decreases in BMI (B, 1.6, 0.4 to 2.7), increases in LBM (B, -0.4, -0.7 to -0.2), and greater dropout rates (B, -0.01, -0.02 to -0.005). For non-HDL-C, greater decreases were associated with greater decreases in body weight (B, 6.7, 0.7 to 12.8), BMI (B, 19.1, 7.2 to 31.0), greater dropout rates (B, -0.6, -1.0 to -0.3) and increases in upper body strength (B, -0.4, -0.7 to -0.04). For LDL-C, greater decreases were associated with studies conducted in the US versus other countries (B, -16.3, -26.0 to -6.6), higher intensity training (B, -1.1, -1.9 to -0.2), and greater compliance to the exercise protocol (B, -0.7, -1.3 to -0.02). No other statistically significant associations were found for any of our other potential predictors or for TG.

## Discussion

## Evaluation and interpretation of findings

The overall results of our study suggest that PRT reduces TC, the ratio of TC/HDL-C, non-HDL-C, LDL-C and TG in adults. This is in contrast to two recent narrative reviews that have suggested that PRT has little or no effect on lipids and lipoproteins in adults (Braith and Stewart, 2006; Williams et al., 2007). One possible reason for this discrepancy may be the fact that these previous reviews were based on the more subjective, narrative approach versus the more objective meta-analytic approach (Sacks et al., 1987). More specifically, these previous reviews based their conclusions on whether results were statistically significant or not (vote-counting approach), an approach

that has been shown to be less valid and reliable than the statistical pooling of findings in meta-analysis (Hedges and Olkin, 1985). Based on previous research, our reported changes are equivalent to the following in relation to reducing the risk of coronary heart disease: (1) a reduction of an average of 5% (95% CI, 2% to 20%) as a result of decreases in TC (Consensus Development Panel, 1985) (2) a reduction of 21% in men (95% CI, 6% to 45%) as a result of reductions in TC/HDL-C (Kinosian et al., 1995), (3) a reduction of approximately 5% in men and women (95% CI, 2% to 8%) as a result of decreases in non-HDL-C (Bezafibrate Infarction Research Group, 2000), (4) a reduction of approximately 9% (95% CI, 2% to 24%) as a result of decreases in non-HDL-C (National Cholesterol Education Program et al., 2002), and (5) a reduction of 3% in men (95% CI, <1% to 6%) and 7% in women (95% CI, 1% to 14%) as a result of reductions in TG (Hokanson and Austin, 1996).

The reductions in non-HDL-C are noteworthy since recent research has suggested that non-HDL-C may be a better predictor of CVD morbidity (Pischon et al., 2005) and mortality (Cui et al., 2001) than LDL-C. This seems plausible given that non-HDL-C contains all known lipid particles considered to be atherogenic (low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, lipoprotein (a), intermediate-density lipoprotein, verylow-density lipoprotein) (Frost and Havel, 1998). In addition, patient burden is reduced because fasting isn't usually necessary prior to assessment (Frost and Havel, 1998). The improvements in LDL-C are also especially relevant given that LDL-C is currently the primary target of lipid lowering therapy in adults (National Cholesterol Education Program et al., 2002).

The lack of a statistically significant increase in HDL-C suggests that aerobic exercise may be the more appropriate type of exercise for increasing HDL-C in adults. For example, our previous metaanalytic work dealing with the effects of aerobic exercise on lipids



Fig. 5. Forest plot for changes in non-HDL-C and 95% confidence intervals for each outcome as well as the overall weighted mean difference and 95% confidence interval for studies included in our meta-analysis. The size of the black boxes for each outcome represents the weight given to that outcome. The overall mean difference is shown by the middle of the diamond while the left and right extremes of the diamond represent the corresponding 95% confidence interval. The vertical dashed line represents the overall mean change. To convert to millimoles per liter (mmol/L) divide by 38.67.



**Fig. 6.** Forest plot for changes in LDL-C and 95% confidence intervals for each outcome as well as the overall weighted mean difference and 95% confidence interval for studies included in our meta-analysis. The size of the black boxes for each outcome represents the weight given to that outcome. The overall mean difference is shown by the middle of the diamond while the left and right extremes of the diamond represent the corresponding 95% confidence interval. The vertical dashed line represents the overall mean change. To convert to millimoles per liter (mmol/L) divide by 38.67.



Fig. 7. Forest plot for changes in TG and 95% confidence intervals for each outcome as well as the overall weighted mean difference and 95% confidence interval for studies included in our meta-analysis. The size of the black boxes for each outcome represents the weight given to that outcome. The overall mean difference is shown by the middle of the diamond while the left and right extremes of the diamond represent the corresponding 95% confidence interval. The vertical dashed line represents the overall mean change. To convert to millimoles per liter (mmol/L) divide by 88.57.

and lipoproteins in men and women found statistically significant increases in HDL-C of 2% in men (Kelley and Kelley, 2006) and 3% in women (Kelley et al., 2004). However, we're not aware of any definitive reasons as to how HDL-C may be improved as a result of aerobic exercise but not PRT. Therefore, it is suggested that future research explore this issue.

Given our findings and current exercise guidelines recommending participation in both aerobic and PRT (Haskell et al., 2007; Nelson et al., 2007), the greatest overall benefits on lipids and lipoproteins may best be derived from participation in both. However, we are not aware of any consensus regarding such benefits. Regardless, participation in aerobic and PRT should almost always be recommended because of the numerous other benefits that can be derived from such (Pedersen and Saltin, 2006).

Despite the fact that we observed important improvements in lipids and lipoproteins as a result of PRT, changes in other lifestyle factors (for example, reduction in saturated fat intake) and possibly the prescription of lipid lowering agents such as hydroxymethyl glutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitors (statins) may be necessary to meet current lipid and lipoprotein goals (National Cholesterol Education Program et al., 2002).

We found several interesting associations between potential predictors and changes in lipids and lipoproteins. First, the inverse relationship between decreases in TC, TC/HDL-C and non-HDL-C with greater dropout rates may be reflective of more difficult exercise regimens in which greater benefits were derived but resulted in a greater loss of participants completing the exercise intervention. Second, the fact that decreases in BMI were associated with greater improvements in TC, HDL-C, TC/HDL-C, and non-HDL-C suggests that the changes observed for these primary outcomes may have been influenced by changes in BMI as a result of PRT versus PRT itself.

However, it's important to note that the changes in BMI observed in our study were small (<1%) and non-significant. Third, the association between upper body strength and changes in TC and non-HDL-C suggests that greater decreases in TC and non-HDL-C are associated with greater increases in upper body strength. This was an interesting finding to us since one might have expected a greater association with changes in lower body strength given the larger amount of muscle mass that is generally involved in performing lower body exercises. Fourth, the fact that we found an association between changes in HDL-C and baseline levels of HDL-C suggests that greater increases in HDL-C may be achieved in those individuals with lower baselines values. Intuitively, this seems plausible. Fifth, the association between changes in HDL-C and LBM suggests that greater increases in HDL-C are associated with greater increases in LBM. Sixth, the association between changes in body weight and non-HDL-C suggests that greater decreases in bodyweight are associated with greater decreases in non-HDL-C. However, similar to changes in BMI, the changes in bodyweight observed in this study were small and non-significant. Seventh, the fact that greater decreases in LDL-C were associated with studies published in the US versus other countries may be reflective of what is known as country bias (Vickers et al., 1998). Eighth, the association between changes in LDL-C and training intensity suggests that greater decreases in LDL-C may be achieved by training at a higher intensity of one's 1RM. However, this has to be considered with respect to the increased dropout rates associated with higher-intensity training (Haskell et al., 2007). Ninth, the association between greater decreases in LDL-C with higher compliance rates may reflect the greater benefits derived from a greater commitment to the PRT intervention. Lastly, we have no scientific explanation for the association between greater decreases in TC and fewer exercises performed.

## Study strengths and limitations

The strengths of our study include the use of the meta-analytic approach for examining the effects of PRT on lipids and lipoproteins in adults. Such an approach allowed us to (1) improve power for our primary outcomes and selected subgroup analyses, (2) resolve uncertainty where studies disagreed, (3) improve estimates of treatment effectiveness, and (4) provide direction for future research based on a quantitative approach for reviewing the literature. However, while the results of our study provide important findings, they must be viewed with respect to the following potential limitations. First, despite the fact that a large amount of heterogeneity was observed for our primary outcomes we were unable to identify any significant sources of this heterogeneity based on the metaregression tests we conducted. While we used a random-effects model that accounts for this heterogeneity and leads to more conservative (wider) confidence intervals when heterogeneity is present, some believe that heterogeneous results should not be combined, regardless of the model chosen (Higgins and Green, 2006).

Second, we conducted a large number of simple versus multiple meta-regression tests because of our desire to include as much data as possible for each potential predictor. However, by using this approach, some of our significant associations could be nothing more than the play of chance given the large number of tests we performed. However, we believe, as do others, that adjustments for these comparisons should not be made and that limiting the number of analyses is not in the best interest of science (Rothman, 1990; Sterne and Davey, 2001). Regardless, the associations we observed for our meta-regression tests and potential predictors should be viewed with caution and thus, need to be tested in large, well-designed randomized controlled trials before they can be confirmed. Third, the results of our study should not be generalized beyond the characteristics of our included studies. For example, we do not believe that it's appropriate to try and generalize our results to children and adolescents. Fourth, meta-analysis, like any review, is limited by the data that is available or can be obtained. For example, less than half of the data were available on the intensity of training and rest period between each set and exercise. Since these are important factors in determining the amount of work performed as well as the degree of pressure versus volume load on the cardiovascular system (Braith and Stewart, 2006; Williams et al., 2007), it is suggested that future studies collect and report this information. In addition, sufficient data on compliance to the PRT protocol were reported for only 65% of the exercise groups. Since compliance to the exercise protocol could have a significant impact on the results, future studies should collect and report this information. Furthermore, since less than half of the groups reported complete data on changes in percent body fat and lean body mass, future studies should also collect and report this information since changes in body composition may have an influence on changes in lipids and lipoproteins.

## Conclusions

The results of our study suggest that PRT reduces TC, the ratio of TC/HDL-C, non-HDL-C, LDL-C and TG in adults.

#### Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Dr. William Haskell of Stanford University for reviewing our reference list and codebook.

This study was funded by Grant-in-Aid #0755207B from the American Heart Association (G.A. Kelley, Principal Investigator).

## Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.10.010.

## References

- Baldi, J.C., Snowling, N., 2003. Resistance training improves glycaemic control in obese type 2 diabetic men. Int. J. Sports Med. 24 (6), 419–423.
- Bezafibrate Infarction Research Group, 2000. Secondary prevention by raising HDL cholesterol and reducing triglycerides in patients with coronary artery disease: the Bezafibrate Infarction Prevention (BIP) study. Circulation 102 (1), 21–27.
- Blessing, D., Stone, M., Byrd, R., et al., 1987. Blood lipid and hormonal changes from jogging and weight training of middle-aged men. J. Appl. Sport. Sci. Res. 1, 25–29.
- Boardley, D., Fahlman, M., Topp, R., Morgan, A.L., McNevin, N., 2007. The impact of exercise training on blood lipids in older adults. Am. J. Geriatr. Cardiol. 16 (1), 30–35.
- Boyden, T.W., Pamenter, R.W., Going, S.B., et al., 1993. Resistance exercise training is associated with decreases in serum low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels in premenopausal women. Arch. Int. Med. 153, 97–100.
- Braith, R.W., Stewart, K.J., 2006. Resistance exercise training: its role in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. Circulation 113 (22), 2642–2650.
- Bunout, D., Barrera, G., de la Maza, P., et al., 2001. The impact of nutritional supplementation and resistance training on the health functioning of free-living Chilean elders: results of 18 months of follow-up. J. Nutr. 131, 2441S–2446S.
- Campbell, D.E., 1965. Influence of several physical activities on serum cholesterol concentrations in young men. J. Lipid Res. 6, 478–480.
- Castaneda, C., Layne, J.E., Munoz, O.L., et al., 2002. A randomized controlled trial of resistance exercise training to improve glycemic control in older adults with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 25, 2335–2341.
- Cohen, J., 1968. Weighted kappa: nominal scale agreement with provision for scaled disagreement or partial credit. Psychol. Bull. 70, 213–220.
- Consensus Development Panel, 1985. Consensus conference. lowering blood cholesterol to prevent heart disease. JAMA 253 (14), 2080–2086.
- Crowder, T.A. 1989. The effects of various exercise modalities on serum cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations (cholesterol), University of Missouri-Columbia (dissertation).
- Cui, Y., Blumenthal, R.S., Flaws, J.A., et al., 2001. Non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level as a predictor of cardiovascular disease mortality. Arch. Int. Med. 161 (11), 1413–1419.
- Durak, E.P., Jovanovic-Peterson, L., Peterson, C.M., 1990. Randomized crossover study of effect of resistance training on glycemic control, muscular strength, and cholesterol in type I diabetic men. Diabetes Care 13 (10), 1039–1043.
- Elliott, K.J., Sale, C., Cable, N.T., 2002. Effects of resistance training and detraining on muscle strength and blood lipid profiles in postmenopausal women. Br. J. Sports Med. 36 (5), 340–344.
- Ensign, W.Y. Jr. 1993. Association of regional and total body composition, plasma lipids, lipoproteins, apolipoproteins and the effects of long term resistive training in the premenopausal female, The University of Arizona (dissertation).
- Fahlman, M.M., Boardley, D., Lambert, C.P., Flynn, M.G., 2002. Effects of endurance training and resistance training on plasma lipoprotein profiles in elderly women. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 57 (2), 54–60.
- Fenkci, S., Sarsan, A., Rota, S., Ardic, F., 2006. Effects of resistance or aerobic exercises on metabolic parameters in obese women who are not on a diet. Adv. Ther. 23 (3), 404–413.
- Follmann, D., Elliot, P., Suh, I., Cutler, J., 1992. Variance imputation for overviews of clinical trials with continuous response. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 45, 769–773.
- Friedewald, W.T., Levy, R.I., Fredrickson, D.S., 1972. Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. Clin. Chem. 18 (6), 499–502.
- Frost, P.H., Havel, R.J., 1998. Rationale for use of non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol rather than low-density lipoprotein cholesterol as a tool for lipoprotein cholesterol screening and assessment of risk and therapy. Am. J. Cardiol. 81 (4A), 26B–31B.
- Hagerman, F.C., Walsh, S.J., Staron, R.S., et al., 2000. Effects of high-intensity resistance training on untrained older men. I. Strength, cardiovascular, and metabolic responses. J. Gerontol. 55A (7), B336–B346.
- Haskell, W.L., Lee, I.M., Pate, R.R., et al., 2007. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 39 (8), 1423–1434.
- Hedges, L.V., Olkin, I., 1985. Statistical Methods for Meta-Analysis. Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- Herbison, P., Hay-Smith, J., Gillespie, W.J., 2006. Adjustment of meta-analyses on the basis of quality scores should be abandoned. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 59 (12), 1249.e1–1249.e11.
- Hersey, W.C., Graves, J.E., Pollock, M.L., et al., 1994. Endurance exercise training improves body composition and plasma insulin responses in 70- to 79-year-old men and women. Metabolism 43, 841–854.
- Higgins, J.P.T., Green, S.E., 2006. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions 4.2.6 (updated September 2006). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., Chichester, UK.
- Higgins, J.P.T., Thompson, S.G., Deeks, J.J., Altman, D.G., 2003. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. Br. Med. J. 327 (7414), 557–560.
- Hokanson, J.E., Austin, M.A., 1996. Plasma triglyceride level is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease independent of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level:

a meta-analysis of population-based prospective studies. J. Cardiovasc. Risk 3 (2), 213–219.

- Hong, W.L. 2004, Tai Chi and resistance training exercise: would these really improve the health of the elderly? The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
- Hunter, J.E., Schmidt, F.L., 2000. Fixed effects vs. random effects meta-analysis models: implications for cumulative research knowledge. Int. J. Sel. Assess. 8 (4), 275–292.
- Jadad, A.R., Moore, R.A., Carroll, D., et al., 1996. Assessing the quality of reports of randomized clinical trials: is blinding necessary? Control. Clin. Trials 17, 1–12 (dissertation)
- Johnson, C.C., Stone, M.H., Byrd, R.J., Lopez-S, A., 1983. The response of serum lipids and plasma androgens to weight training exercise in sedentary males. J. Sports Med. 23, 39–44.
- Katznelson, L., Robinson, M.W., Coyle, C.L., Lee, H., Farrell, C.E., 2006. Effects of modest testosterone supplementation and exercise for 12 weeks on body composition and quality of life in elderly men. Eur. J. Endocrinol. 155 (6), 867–875.
- Kelley, G.A., Kelley, K.S., 2006. Aerobic exercise and lipids and lipoproteins in men: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J. Mens Health Gend. 3 (1), 61–70.
- Kelley, G.A., Kelley, K.S., Tran, Z.V., 2004. Aerobic exercise and lipids and lipoproteins in women: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J. Womens Health 13 (10), 1148–1164.
- Kinosian, B., Glick, H., Preiss, L., Puder, K.L., 1995. Cholesterol and coronary heart disease: predicting risks in men by changes in levels and ratios. J. Investig. Med. 43 (5), 443–450.
- Lau, J., Schmid, C.H., Chalmers, T.C., 1995. Cumulative meta-analysis of clinical trials builds evidence for exemplary medical care: the Potsdam international consultation on meta-analysis. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 48 (1), 45–57.
- LeMura, L.M., von Duvillard, S.P., Andreacci, J., Klebez, J.M., Chelland, S.A., Russo, J., 2000. Lipid and lipoprotein profiles, cardiovascular fitness, body composition, and diet during and after resistance, aerobic and combination training in young women. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 82 (5–6), 451–458.
- Maesta, N., Nahas, E.A., Nahas-Neto, J, et al., 2007. Effects of soy protein and resistance exercise on body composition and blood lipids in postmenopausal women. Maturitas 56 (4), 350–358.
- Mann, G.V., Teel, K., Hayes, O., McNally, A., Bruno, D., 1955. Exercise in the disposition of dietary calories: regulation of serum lipoprotein and cholesterol levels in human subjects. N. Engl. J. Med. 253, 349–355.
- Manning, J.M., Dooly-Manning, C.R., White, K., et al., 1991. Effects of a resistive training program on lipoprotein–lipid levels in obese women. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 23, 1222–1226.
- Martin, J.R. 1994. The effect of a 12-week resistive training program on the blood lipid levels of previously sedentary adult women, Brigham Young University (thesis).
- Minino, A.M., Heron, M.P., Smith, B.L., 2006. Deaths: preliminary data for 2004. National Vital Statistics Reports, Vol 54, No 19. National Center for Health Statistics, Hyattsville, MD.
- Mosteller, F., Colditz, G.A., 1996. Understanding research synthesis (meta-analysis). Ann. Rev. Public Health 17, 1–23.
- National Cholesterol Education Program, National Heart Lung and Blood Institute, & National Institutes of Health, 2002. Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) Final Report. Circulation 106 (25), 3143–3421.

- Nelson, M.E., Rejeski, W.J., Blair, S.N., et al., 2007. Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 39 (8), 1435–1445.
- Olson, T.P., Dengel, D.R., Leon, A.S., Schmitz, K.H., 2006. Moderate resistance training and vascular health in overweight women. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 38 (9), 1558–1564.
- Pedersen, B.K., Saltin, B., 2006. Evidence for prescribing exercise as therapy in chronic disease. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports 16 (s1), 3–63.
- Peters, J.L., Sutton, A.J., Jones, D.R., Abrams, K.R., Rushton, L., 2006. Comparison of two methods to detect publication bias in meta-analysis. JAMA 295 (6), 676–680.
- Pischon, T., Girman, C.J., Sacks, F.M., Rifai, N., Stampfer, M.J., Rimm, E.B., 2005. Nonhigh-density lipoprotein cholesterol and apolipoprotein B in the prediction of coronary heart disease in men. Circulation 112 (22), 3375–3383.
- Prabhakaran, B., Dowling, E.A., Branch, J.D., Swain, D.P., Leutholtz, B.C., 1999. Effect of 14 weeks of resistance training on lipid profile and body fat percentage in premenopausal women. Br. J. Sports Med. 33, 190–195.
- Rosamond, W., Flegal, K., Furie, K, et al., 2008. Heart disease and stroke statistics—2008 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Circulation 117 (4), e25–e146.
- Rothman, K.J., 1990. No adjustments are needed for multiple comparisons. Epidemiol. 1, 43-46.
- Sacks, H.S., Berrier, J., Reitman, D., Ancona-Berk, V.A., Chalmers, T.C., 1987. Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. N. Engl. J. Med. 316, 450–455.
- Sallinen, J., Fogelholm, M., Volek, J.S., Kraemer, W.J., Alen, M., Hakkinen, K., 2007. Effects of strength training and reduced training on functional performance and metabolic health indicators in middle-aged men. Int. J. Sports Med. 28 (10), 815–822.
- Sigal, R.J., Kenny, G.P., Boule, N.G. et al., 2007. Effects of aerobic training, resistance training, or both on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. Ann. Int. Med. 147 (6), 357–369.
- Sterne, J.A., Davey, S.G., 2001. Sifting the evidence-what's wrong with significance tests? Br. Med. J. 322 (7280), 226–231.
- Stone, M.H., Blessing, D., Byrd, R., et al., 1982. Physiological effects of a short term resistive training program on middle-aged untrained men. Nat. Strength Cond. Assoc. (NSCA) J. 4 (5), 16–20.
- Thomas, G.N., Hong, A.W., Tomlinson, B., et al., 2005. Effects of Tai Chi and resistance training on cardiovascular risk factors in elderly Chinese subjects: a 12-month longitudinal, randomized, controlled intervention study. Clin. Endocrinol. 63 (6), 663–669.
- Vickers, A., Goyal, N., Harland, R., Rees, R., 1998. Do certain countries produce only positive results? A systematic review of controlled trials. Control. Clin. Trials 19, 159–166.
- Vincent, K., Braith, R., Bottiglieri, T., Vincent, H., Lowenthal, D., 2003. Homocysteine and lipoprotein levels following resistance training in older adults. Prev. Cardiol. 6 (4), 197–203.
- Williams, M.A., Haskell, W.L., Ades, P.A., et al., 2007. Resistance exercise in individuals with and without cardiovascular disease: 2007 update: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on Clinical Cardiology and Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. Circulation 116 (5), 572–584.
- Wosornu, D., Bedford, D., Ballantyne, D., 1996. A comparison of the effects of strength and aerobic exercise training on exercise capacity and lipids after coronary artery bypass surgery. Eur. Heart J. 17, 854–863.